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The events described in this book follow the broad outline provided by Roy Jenkins in Asquith (London: Collins, 1964) and Lord Beaverbrook in Politicians and the War, 1914-1916, Volume II (London: Lane Publications, 1932). The dialogue is largely imagined and the motives attributed to the principal characters are also conjectural, but all the meetings took place much as I have described them here and the outcome was of course the same.


Gore Vidal began every book in his seven-volume Narratives of Empire with a reminder of Mary McCarthy’s famous list of ‘things that “serious” fiction cannot deal with’. The final impossible item was ‘a Cabinet meeting where actual politics are alluded to.’ Vidal quoted this warning only to show how wrong McCarthy was. I have tried to follow where Gore led.






















 







 





‘The life of the country depends on resolute action by you now.’




David Lloyd George to Andrew Bonar Law


Saturday 2 December 1916


 





‘That is a question which I must reserve for myself to decide.’




Herbert Asquith to David Lloyd George


Monday 4 December 1916


 





‘Unity without action is nothing but futile carnage, and I cannot be responsible for that. Vigour and vision are the supreme need at this hour.’




David Lloyd George to Herbert Asquith


Tuesday 5 December 1916






















 





London, December 1916.




 





Herbert Asquith is exhausted. As leader of the Liberal Party, one of England’s two great political movements, he has been Prime Minister for over eight years. The last two-and-a-half years have been spent directing the country’s increasingly ineffective war effort. His eldest son was killed at the front ten weeks ago.


During his early years in Downing Street Asquith had worked closely with David Lloyd George, then Chancellor of the Exchequer, to guide the country through a period of unprecedented social and political change. The budget of 1909 was fiercely resisted by the House of Lords but after two general elections in 1910 Asquith had been able to force the Tory-dominated upper house to surrender its right to reject legislation passed by the Commons. During those years the Government also faced unprecedented industrial unrest at home, a rising suffragette movement, anarchist outbursts, and near civil war in Ireland. An Irish Home Rule Bill was passed in 1914 but the question of Ulster’s exclusion was deferred until after the war.


England joined the war in August 1914. Although it was widely expected to be ‘over by Christmas’ the country instead found itself bogged down in an orgy of slaughter, the likes of which had not been seen in Europe for centuries. Asquith’s Liberal Government came under increasing pressure following military failure on a number of fronts. In May 1915 it gave way to a Coalition Government in which the Liberals were joined by the Conservative Unionists led by Andrew Bonar Law. Asquith remained Prime Minister. Lloyd George became Minister of Munitions and, a year later, Secretary of State for War. Bonar Law became Secretary of State for the Colonies.


Asquith’s leadership was called into question as the war moved from one stalemate to the next. In December 1916 Lloyd George acted with support from Bonar Law and the Unionists to undermine the Prime Minister’s leadership and replace him. Herbert Asquith, the last leader of a Liberal Government in England, was deposed in a political coup three weeks before Christmas 1916.


This is the story of that coup.



















Those who feature in this narrative are listed here together with the ministerial or other public appointments they held in December 1916.


Leading Characters


Sir Max Aitken MP (1879–1964). Conservative / Unionist. Confidante of both Lloyd George and Bonar Law. (Later Lord Beaverbrook).


Herbert Henry Asquith MP (1852–1928). Liberal. Prime Minister since 1908.


Andrew Bonar Law MP (1858–1923). Conservative / Unionist. Leader of the Conservative Party in the House of Commons. Colonial Secretary.


Sir Edward Carson MP (1854–1935). Conservative / Unionist. Resigned from the Cabinet in 1916. Thereafter informal leader of the Unionist opposition to the Coalition Government.


David Lloyd George MP (1863–1945). Liberal. Secretary of State for War.


Other Leading Liberals


Augustine Birrell MP (1805–1933). Resigned as Chief Secretary for Ireland in May 1916 following the Easter rebellion in Dublin that year.


Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman MP (1836–1908). Asquith’s predecessor as Prime Minister 1905–8. Died in Downing Street in April 1908.


Winston Churchill MP (1874–1965). Resigned from the Cabinet in 1915 to command a battalion in France.


Lord Crewe (1858–1945). Lord President of the Council.


Lord Grey of Fallodon (1862–1933). Foreign Secretary.


Reginald McKenna MP (1863–1943). Chancellor of the Exchequer.


Edwin Montagu MP (1879–1924). Minister of Munitions. His wife, Venetia Stanley, had been the object of Asquith’s affections before her marriage to Montagu in 1915.


Other Leading Conservatives/Unionists


Arthur Balfour MP (1848–1930). First Lord of the Admiralty. Prime Minister 1902–05.


Lord Robert Cecil MP (1864–1958). Minister of Blockade.


Austen Chamberlain MP (1863–1937). Secretary of State for India.


Lord Curzon (1859–1925). Lord Privy Seal.


Lord Lansdowne (1845–1927). Minister without Portfolio. Unionist leader in the Lords.


Walter Long MP (1854–1924). President of the Local Government Board.


Lord Milner (1854-1925). Held no office in Asquith’s Government but later joined Lloyd George‘s War Cabinet.


Sir Frederick Edwin (F. E.) Smith MP (1872–1930). Attorney General.


Others


Helen Asquith (née Melland), (1856–91). Asquith’s first wife. Their children were Raymond (1878–1916), Herbert (‘Beb’) (1881–1947), Arthur (‘Oc’) (1883–1939), Violet (1887–1969) and Cyril (‘Cys’) (1890–1954).


Margot Asquith (née Tennant), (1864–1945). Asquith’s second wife. Their children were Elizabeth (1897–1945) and Anthony (‘Puffin’) (1902–1968).


Maurice Bonham Carter (1870–1960). Asquith’s Principal Private Secretary.


Colonel Maurice Hankey (1877–1963). Secretary of the War Committee.


Arthur Henderson MP (1863–1935). Labour. Cabinet member and Paymaster-General.


Colonel Edward M. House (1863–1938). Adviser on European affairs to US President Woodrow Wilson.


Lord Kitchener of Khartoum (1850–1916). War Secretary 1914–16. Drowned off the Orkney Islands en route to Russia in May 1916.


Major-General Sir Frederick Maurice (1871–1951). Director of Military Operations.


Lord Northcliffe (Alfred Harmsworth) (1865–1922). Newspaper magnate.


General Sir William Robertson (1860–1933). Chief of the Imperial General Staff. 


Lord Rothermere (Harold Harmsworth) (1868–1940). Newspaper magnate.


Lord Stamfordham (Arthur Bigge) (1849-1931). Private Secretary to King George V.


Venetia Stanley (1887–1948). Wife of Edwin Montagu. The object of Asquith’s affections and recipient of numerous letters from him, many written while he was chairing Cabinet meetings, in the period 1910–15.


General Sir Henry Wilson (1864–1922). Military leader and (later) Unionist politician.


Woodrow Wilson (1856–1924). President of the United States of America 1913-21.
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Prologue





Tuesday 5 December 1916


Cabinet Room, 10 Downing Street


4.45 p.m.


‘Prime Minister?’


He knocks again, a second time.


Still no response. This is unusual.


Straining for any sound behind the green baize door, he presses his ear to the cloth. Nothing. Was the Old Man asleep? That morning he had looked suddenly ancient – pale and fleshy, the bags beneath his eyes a sickly shade of grey. Margot had turned him out fastidiously: the suit was pressed, a new wing collar, no dandruff on the shoulders, shoes gleaming. But still the hair was tousled and the waistcoat strained to contain his increasing girth.


He looked like the end of the world.


The week had been awful and was getting worse. The pressure on the PM was unprecedented, a full assault from both wings of the Cabinet. Lloyd George had sunk the knife in gently at first but he was pushing now – with a smiling face and eminent courtesy, but also with increasing firmness. The Conservative ministers were twisting Lloyd George’s knife. Asquith had weathered all sorts of adversity before but this was different, a new pitch of intensity. It was a coup, the first he had faced in eight years at Downing Street. Could he survive? Drummond was beginning to doubt it.


‘Prime Minister?’


A third time, slightly louder. If he hears no response this time he must enter and see what is happening inside. He holds his breath and listens.


A voice from within, faltering: ‘Come.’


Drummond opens the door as quietly as he can. The PM sits in the central chair, his hands folded on the table, back straight. A glass of water by his right hand but nothing else: no papers, no pens, no boxes. Again this is unusual. Asquith is staring out to the left through the high windows over Horse Guards. As Drummond approaches he turns his head to acknowledge him. But says nothing.


‘Prime Minister, the ministers are waiting outside. The Liberal ministers, sir. You asked to see them again at five o’clock?’


Asquith stares at him. Still nothing. For a long moment he looks at Drummond quizzically. Is he ill? Is it possible that he doesn’t recognise him?


‘Sir, you asked me to call the Liberal ministers to see you. They are here. Would you like them to join you now?’


At this Asquith awakens. The grey pallor of his face begins to colour; the waxwork dummy becomes human again. He reaches into his breast pocket and removes a letter, laying it on the table before him, and speaks.


‘I fear we may be in greater difficulty than I had anticipated, Drummond.’


He pauses.


‘Mr Balfour has written to me. For the second time today. It seems he is not quite as determined to stay at the Admiralty as I had expected. That is to say, he is happy that Lloyd George should determine these matters. Not the Prime Minister. Not me.’ He pauses again. ‘I had not expected this. Balfour is turning and his Unionist colleagues are also slipping away. They do not expect me to survive the week.’


A pause.


‘I fear they may be correct in that assessment.’


This is the first time Drummond has heard the PM admitting the possibility of defeat.


‘Is Lord Crewe in the building?’


‘He is with your colleagues in the morning room, sir.’


‘Who else is there?’


‘All the Liberal ministers, sir. The former ministers, that is.’ The Prime Minister had transmitted the resignation of every member of the Cabinet to the King the previous day. The King had asked him to form a new Government.


‘Except the Secretary of State for War,’ Drummond adds.


Lloyd George.


The former Liberal ministers. McKenna, the Chancellor, one of Asquith’s oldest political friends. Lord Chancellor Buckmaster. Herbert Samuel, the Home Secretary, and Viscount Grey, the Foreign Secretary. Also Mackinnon Wood, Pease, Montagu, Tennant, Runciman and Harcourt.


‘Is Mr Henderson with them?’


‘No, sir. Just your party colleagues.’


Arthur Henderson, the sole Labour member of the wartime Coalition Cabinet. Asquith likes him more than he likes most of his other colleagues. This is strange: Henderson is a working-class man, gruff and uneducated. But he is also honest, clear-thinking and true.


And of course he isn’t Welsh.


‘Please ask them to wait for ten minutes, Drummond, then send them in.’


‘Yes, Prime Minister.’


Drummond closes the door to the Cabinet Room leaving Asquith alone. In the hall he senses a chill, some movement that he cannot name. He walks quietly to the morning room and asks the ministers to wait: the Prime Minister needs time to deal with some matters before he sees them.


Crewe catches McKenna’s eye across the room. He nods to him slightly, almost imperceptibly. The Chancellor nods back before turning to gaze out the window at the early evening darkness falling on the street outside.

















PART I


The coup begins:


Tuesday 7 November 1916 –


Sunday 26 November 1916
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Tuesday 7 November 1916 — House of Commons


‘Order! Order!’ In the shadows off-stage he straightens his tie, closes his eyes, mutters a short prayer, and feels sick to his stomach. And then…


A tremendous wall of noise greets Bonar Law as he enters the chamber from behind the Speaker’s chair. Four hundred men shouting, groaning, waving order papers above their heads. Some standing, others seated. One or two leaning forward, pointing mockingly across the aisle. Mostly red-faced, post-prandial, boisterous. Some quite plainly drunk.


‘Order! Order!’ The Speaker calling to be heard. They ignore him.


As leader of the Conservative and Unionist Party and now also a senior Government minister, Law thought he could readily identify the many moods of the House. He can recognise the cheers that greet victory in the division lobby or a rousing speech. He knows also the groans that follow some crawling interjection, a ministerial embarrassment or obvious evasion, or a backbencher making a fool of himself. And he can identify immediately the unmistakable sound of the Commons in full fury. He has never suffered that indignity himself, although he had been party to two famous demonstrations that forced the Prime Minister to resume his seat without being able to speak.


This evening’s noise is different, however; partly a roar, partly a whoop of anticipation.


Government members cheer the Colonial Secretary as he shuffles along the front bench to the dispatch box. He is still unused to the experience of Liberal members cheering him, the second party leader in the now not-so-new coalition. When Asquith had been forced to reconstruct his ministry in May 1915, Law had led the Conservatives into government for the first time in ten years. This was Britain’s first modern experiment in coalition; two parties burying their separate interests and prejudices to advance a common cause. In this case to win the war.


Although Asquith’s Liberals could still command a Commons majority at that time, the mood of the country had turned against them. A general election in wartime was impossible. So the Prime Minister had decided calmly, even casually, on coalition. Law and the Unionists had joined him. But still the war continued, an exercise in butchery that even now, more than two years since its onset, showed no sign of resolution.


The Government carried on through this carnage and confusion with the strange result that Liberal backbenchers are this evening cheering a man who four years earlier they had accused of treason over Ireland. He finds it a curious and disturbing sensation. They were literally at his back, cheering him on, urging him forward, secretly willing him to fail.


But suddenly a more sinister noise rolls over from across the aisle. The concept of ‘opposition’ has little meaning now that all parties apart from the Irish are represented in the Government. Asquith had persuaded Henderson, the Labour leader, to accept appointment as President of the Board of Education and later as Paymaster-General. He had also appointed other Labour MPs to a number of junior ministries. Eight of his Liberal colleagues had been forced to leave the Cabinet to make way for Law and the Conservatives. Mostly they departed without rancour, understanding the political calculus that had sunk them, but some harboured grudges that would cause continuing problems for the new ministry.


The most spectacular casualty had been Winston Churchill, the one-time Conservative who had crossed the floor and become a Liberal minister, filling the position he most coveted, First Lord of the Admiralty, in Asquith’s first wartime government. The Tories hated Churchill with a grand and spectacular passion. The cost of persuading them to join the Government had been Churchill’s dispatch, which Asquith had accomplished with brutal efficiency. He remained in the new ministry as Chancellor of the Duchy of Lancaster, a Cabinet role in which he had precisely nothing to do, but was driven into disillusioned departure in the autumn of 1915. Like many other MPs from both sides of the House, Churchill chose to transfer to France and active service at the front.


The curious nature of the swollen coalition meant that the Opposition benches now served mainly as a home for the vast overflow of Government MPs. But a daily shift in sentiment brought to the Opposition front bench those who planned to resist the Government on whatever matter was for debate that day. As he entered the chamber Law knew who was to face him across the dispatch box that evening.


Sir Edward Carson. Dissident Unionist leader. Former Attorney General. Member for Dublin University. An old friend of Law’s. But in this evening’s debate a calculating and dangerous opponent.


‘Order, order.’


Speaker Lowther. A man of unsurpassable pomposity and self-importance, Law reflected.


‘The House will come to order.’


Some semblance of quiet descends, enough for the Speaker to be heard.


‘The House will come to order. The motion is this: that, in the opinion of this House, where enemy properties and businesses in Crown colonies and protectorates are offered for sale, provision should be made for securing that such properties and businesses should be sold only to natural-born British subjects or companies wholly British. Proposed by the Member for Dublin University, Sir Edward Carson. The Secretary of State for the Colonies will respond for the Government.’


Law rises. But all at once he feels dizzy and weak, the blood draining completely from his head. An image of his boys, James and Charles, comes before him. He can no longer see Carson sitting opposite. His two boys…James already in France, Charles soon to follow. The Prime Minister’s son had been killed only six weeks before. At that precise moment Law knows that both James and Charles will die before the war is finished. He knows it with the full force of conviction that comes when it is impossible to dispute a matter. They will both die. He sits down again. The Speaker looks at him, puzzled, unsympathetic.


‘The Secretary of State.’


Now Law is aware of a hand reaching across from his left. Balfour has inched forward to pour a glass of water and passes it to Law who grasps it, grateful. Three sips. Then more, draining the glass. Removing the handkerchief from the breast pocket of his topcoat, he wipes his brow. And rises again. James and Charles shimmer into a haze and then disappear. Carson’s outline becomes clear again.


What is his gaze? Sympathy? Perplexity? Determination? All three.


Carson is the clearest thinker Law has ever worked with. A rigid logicist. A clear-sighted man of principle. Also a fanatic. About Ireland he had been unbendable, and Law had joined with Carson in his determination not to abandon those in Ulster who had shown loyalty to the Crown and the Empire. Nor to abandon those in the South who resisted the hatred of the Catholic Irish for ‘the planters’. But Law had changed. A new and more emollient approach was needed in Ireland following the rebellion that spring. He had worked with Carson and Lloyd George to try to effect this but they had failed. Now here was Carson again, staring fiercely at him across the dispatch box. He knows what that portends. But he must speak.


‘Mr Speaker.’ A little hoarse.


‘Mr Speaker, I regret that the policy adopted by His Majesty’s Government in relation to the disposal of enemy assets in the Protectorate of Nigeria has caused such confusion among a number of my honourable and right honourable friends. I regret that our effort to explain the proposal to colleagues has not helped them to understand the practicality of our proposals. And I particularly regret that a number of members, led by my right honourable friend the member for Dublin University, have seen fit to propose this evening’s motion. Let me explain again what the Government is proposing, and hope, even at this late hour, that they will accept the wisdom of our plans.’


Then Law explains to the House, as he has explained at least half a dozen times already, the Government’s policy in relation to the disposal of German assets seized in Nigeria.


The assets are to be sold on the open market but with legal protections to ensure they cannot remain in German hands or be acquired by Germans or by individuals who might return them to German owners. For Carson these legal protections are inadequate; indeed they miss the whole point. He insists that the assets should be sold solely to British citizens. The Government will not agree to this. If the purchasers had to be British, that would restrict the market and suppress the price that could be achieved at a time when funds were desperately needed. And so Carson must be resisted.


But what is really going on here?


Law knows that Carson is playing a much more devious game than anything to do with Nigerian assets. His motion is in fact an attack on Asquith, his ministry, and the conduct of the war.


Law had long since perfected the technique of thinking while he speaks. With the House not quite attentive but not yet dangerous, his mouth can speak the words of the policy while his brain sharpens his understanding of the game Carson is playing. Carson hates Asquith with a passion. That emotion had not prevented Carson from accepting appointment as Attorney General when Asquith formed his coalition the previous year. But to nobody’s great surprise Carson’s appointment had lasted less than six months: he resigned from the Government in the autumn of 1915.


Carson retired to the backbenches where his disdain for Asquith increased by the day. The man was a fraud, a drinker, a groper. Worse than this, he was not a leader. The greatest war that England ever faced was under the direction of a philandering drunk, a prig who had been in office for so long that he had lost touch with the world outside Whitehall. From the autumn of 1915 Carson had committed himself completely to the destruction of Asquith and his Government.


But here was the obstacle. Law, Carson’s great friend and ally on the Irish question, his leader in the Unionist party, is now firmly embedded in Asquith’s decrepit Government. Asquith could only be driven out if Law deserted him, and short of deposing Law as Unionist leader, which was not his intention, Carson could only aim to frighten him. A frightened Law, fearing that his own leadership of the Conservatives might be under threat, could surely no longer ignore the obvious shortcomings in Asquith’s leadership.


So Law had to be destabilised if Asquith was to be removed.


And that is what this evening’s debate is really all about.


A defeat on the Nigerian issue, in itself a matter of absolutely no consequence, would wreck the Government. That was not Carson’s intention. If the Government failed to suppress Carson’s motion a reconstruction would be necessary but almost certainly under Asquith’s continuing leadership. If the Government won but more Tories voted for the motion than against it, Law would have to resign as Tory leader. Again, that was not Carson’s intention.


But a healthy minority of Tories supporting Carson’s motion would warn Law that his position as Unionist leader was no longer certain. Which would in turn encourage him to reflect on alternative arrangements for government under a new Prime Minister. And who would that be? Law himself? Lloyd George? Curzon? Crewe? Was Carson himself too radical to emerge as a candidate? Redmond’s Irish Nationalists would certainly oppose him but they were no longer of any consequence. It was not an impossibility. But then in politics nothing ever was.


‘And so, Mr Speaker, I oppose the motion and commend the Government’s policy to the House.’


Law sits back. Carson rises. No water needed by him. No clearing of the throat. He launches.


Reasonable at first, Law thought. More in sorrow than in anger, that kind of thing. People ‘anxious to know tomorrow whether the Government which is waging this terrible war at a dreadful cost to their kith and kin, not to talk of their fortunes, is waging it in order that whatever advantages may accrue shall accrue to this country and this Empire, and to no one else.’


Heads beside Carson nodding vigorously. Occasional hear-hears. An interruption by a Liberal backbencher is swiftly batted away. And after ten minutes a relatively weak conclusion, at which Carson resumes his seat. Law knows from long experience that Carson has reserved his harshest tone for whatever Law might say in response. He rises and starts to speak again. Time to get to the point.


‘Mr Speaker, all honourable and right honourable members will know that our policy in disposing of enemy assets in Nigeria is not the real object of my right honourable friend this evening. His motion is in fact a motion of want of confidence in the Government, moved – and I must say I do regret this – with a violence which to my mind is hardly in keeping with the serious situation in which our country stands.’


Vigorous shaking of Carson’s head when accused of verbal violence. The bully bullied. Only way to deal with him. So Law continues. ‘There is, Mr Speaker, no question that any of this should weaken the bonds of my personal friendship with the right honourable member. But his case is built on sentiment, not reason, and it is reason and common sense that I must appeal to in responding.’


Carson interjects to disagree with Law, the colour now rising in his face. Law responds, calmly, refusing to be baited but keen to see how far he can push Carson by attacking his case as illogical. Time to adopt an even calmer tone, restate the policy, say again how difficult he finds it to understand why sensible men might oppose it, and see how Carson responds. Law argues that the country’s French allies would surely feel slighted, and rightly so, if they were to be told, after much sacrifice, that the British did not trust them enough to allow them to purchase enemy assets. And at this Carson erupts.


‘Mr Speaker, I never made any such statement. I never expressed any lack of trust in our French allies. I simply said that they should not be competing against Britishers for property that we Britishers had won from Germans in the war. This is exactly what the French do to us in comparable circumstances.’


How to bait him further? To push him ‘over the top’, as they now say? Law has the perfect response:


‘Mr Speaker, I’m afraid that logic fails my right honourable friend in this response. We cannot both trust our allies and also treat them with ill-disguised contempt at the same time. I cannot imagine a surer way of compromising our energies in fighting this dreadful war.’


At this Carson grows visibly red in the face. Law remains sober, knowing the vote will be unpleasant but now enjoying this goading of his one-time ally. What Carson cannot abide is long-windedness so Law once again repeats the policy and his point about the French, with Carson now shouting in interruption ‘Absolutely untrue’. The Speaker begins to raise his hand but Law gets there first: ‘My right honourable friend’s position remains both confused and illogical.’ Law knows that the worst thing one could ever accuse Carson of is a lack of logic. He takes the bait: ‘Mr Speaker, this is outrageous. My right honourable friend has no right to wilfully misinterpret me.’


At this Law allows himself a broad smile. He finds Carson ‘mistaken’ and again repeats the policy. Carson has had enough: ‘This is nonsense.’ To which Law emolliently replies, ‘My right honourable friend is not very polite. On many questions I admit that I should bow to his opinion. But on this matter I think I am much less likely than he is to talk nonsense.’


Laughter from the Government benches. Laughter – the clearest confirmation of victory in a Commons debate.


But Law knows that this is a pyrrhic victory. He walks through the No lobby when the vote is called. Less than half the House is there to vote. Asquith is present but Lloyd George, who had dined earlier that evening with Carson, is not. The result itself is no surprise: Carson’s motion is defeated, but of Law’s 286 Unionist members only 73 vote for the Government, 65 vote against, and 148 abstain.


Asquith shakes Law’s hand and congratulates him on his work.


Later in the lobby, on a procedural vote, Carson also comes up to shake Law’s hand. Smiles. And winks.


As Law leaves the chamber he is startled to see a large rat scurrying from under the Opposition benches to take refuge behind the Speaker’s rostrum. Despite his strict Scottish Presbyterianism, Law believes in portents, but this was a portent of…what?


Asquith sees it too from the corner of his eye.
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Monday 13 November 1916 —


Lansdowne House, Berkeley Square, London


Lord Lansdowne’s study is on the second floor overlooking the square. It opens directly onto the master bedroom, which leads in turn to a dressing room and then on to four or five further bedrooms and day-rooms. The house is too damn big. Eighteen rooms – why in hell does he need eighteen rooms in the centre of London? There are rooms in this house that he can’t remember ever visiting. He never climbs the stairs to the third floor, hasn’t seen it since the turn of the century. He lives in the drawing room or the study.


Outside he hears Horton climbing the staircase from the hall, wheezing. In half a minute the servant will knock on the door and enter bearing his lordship’s mid-morning tea and toast. A habit formed many years ago: whatever his engagement Lord Lansdowne must stop every day at eleven for tea and toast. This morning he has been composing a memorandum for the Prime Minister. It is possibly the most important document he has ever written in what has already been a long and distinguished (his Liberal friends might disagree) public career.


Earlier that morning Lord Lansdowne had taken three turns around Green Park. South from Lansdowne House to Piccadilly, in by the north-east gate, then south along the path towards The Mall. Sharp right at the Palace (standard flying, HM was at home) then up the gentle slope to Hyde Park Corner and along the northern path paralleling Piccadilly (he liked the alliteration) to the north-east gate again. And twice more around. A bitterly cold early winter’s morning, frost on the ground, the trees entirely naked, leaves still rotting on the grass. Lansdowne, now growing old, had wrapped up warm. At half past seven on a chilly morning he might pick up a cold, or worse. That was not to be tolerated. As he walked he reflected with some pain on the draft memorandum he had prepared yesterday.


Sunday had been an awful day. Writing his note had taken a full eight hours, starting after church (idiotic sermon at St George’s in Hanover Square) and then on without a break until dinner. The whole business exhausted him. He had to speak honestly but if he spoke the truth what would they say? That he was a coward? Or just a realist? This war was endless. It would destroy them all. The carnage was beyond belief. Already a whole generation had been butchered and there was no end in sight. He was a senior politician, a former Foreign Secretary, and now once again a Cabinet minister. Not leader of the Government but a senior minister nonetheless. He had a responsibility, some responsibility, for this damn war. What was he to do?


Lansdowne was Minister without Portfolio in the Coalition Government. He led the Unionists in the Lords and so was responsible for the party’s affairs in the Upper House. But the Lords was no longer the powerhouse it had once been. It was only five years (it felt like a lifetime) since Lansdowne had led the struggle to resist Asquith’s attempts to neuter the House. After Lloyd George’s socialist budget in 1909 the Lords had revolted. This would not pass. Asquith and his Government were outraged: the Commons must have its way on money matters. A particularly inflammatory speech from the little Welshman in the East End. The financial issue had ultimately been resolved when the Lords reluctantly accepted the budget, but the larger issue of the Lords’ role was now unavoidable because of the Irish. Asquith’s Government was propped up by the Irish Party. The Irish wanted Home Rule. The Lords would never agree to Home Rule. The calculus was increasingly straightforward: for Asquith to survive, the Lords’ ability to reject Home Rule – indeed to reject anything – had to be destroyed.


Lansdowne had led the Unionist resistance almost to the bitter end. Through two general elections in 1910 Asquith and the Liberals had retained their hold on power with the support of the Irish. Finally the old soak had blackmailed the new king into a promise to create three hundred Liberal peers if the Lords would not back down. The Commons must have its way. The Government must have its way. Asquith must have his way.


Common little man, raised far too high.


In the end Lansdowne had blinked. The Government’s Parliament Bill squeezed its way through the Lords. The peers’ ability to resist had been reduced to a temporary veto. Home Rule for Ireland had been vetoed twice but there was no third opportunity for the Lords. Just before the outbreak of war, Ireland had been lost.


Lord Lansdowne, Henry Charles Keith Petty-FitzMaurice, an English marquess, owned the larger part of County Kerry.


His eldest son and heir, who had never visited Ireland, was earl of that county.


But here he was now, years later, back in office. Government was the natural state of affairs for Lansdowne. In the last century he had been Governor-General of Canada. He had been Viceroy of India. He had been Secretary of State for War. He had been Foreign Secretary. In fact he had been almost everything, although he had not been Prime Minister. Nor would he ever be. He was too old and was considered too obstructive. Bonar Law was the coming man, although times had certainly changed when a dull and unimaginative Canadian could possibly hope to become the king’s first minister.


But the dull Canadian had accepted Asquith’s invitation in May 1915 to lead his party into government. The coalition ministry was formed. Asquith had outwitted Law at every step, giving him the Colonies, preserving all the senior positions for Asquith’s own Liberals. As Minister without Portfolio Lansdowne was a member of the Cabinet with, frankly, nothing to do. It left him to brood. His current brooding was of a particularly painful kind.


The war was chaos, total carnage. Death and destruction on an industrial scale, although who could care much about the Germans who had started it all? The French were also being decimated. But the toll on the English, who might have stayed out of the conflict but for an exaggerated sensitivity to Belgium, was immense. The generals were incompetent. The Government could not direct the war. Asquith’s firm belief that his role was to referee ministerial discussions rather than to lead the country meant that the war effort was without vigour or direction. And even if such vigour could be found with another leader, where would that take us? How was the war to be ended? And when?


At Cabinet the previous week Asquith had asked all his colleagues to reflect on the current direction of the war and advise him on how they ought to proceed. He had encouraged them all to think deeply, to range broadly, and to advise candidly. The advice would remain confidential to the Cabinet: no material would leak outside the team. But it was time for imagination and new thinking.


Lansdowne had listened to Asquith’s speech with particular attention. It seemed to him that those Cabinet members who held no departmental responsibilities were most responsible for responding to the Prime Minister’s invitation. He had been due to visit Dugdale in Hertfordshire that weekend. But walking home from Cabinet he composed a short note advising his cousin that ministerial duties required him to remain in London for the weekend. Dugdale would understand. On Friday he cancelled all his engagements in order to think. He continued thinking on Saturday. And then on Sunday he began to write. He knew what he wanted to say but was unsure about his language and tone.


He also knew that Asquith’s guarantee of confidentiality would not be honoured. Whatever he wrote, he must expect to see it circulated widely, and almost certainly also to the press, within the next few days.


It was time to consider what had previously been unthinkable: that the country should make preparations to negotiate a peace. A peace with honour but without gain. A peace that would prevent further carnage but give no meaning or redemption to the slaughter that had already taken place. A peace that would quickly destroy the politicians who negotiated it. It would end Lansdowne’s public career and destroy Asquith and his ministry. But it would also end the war.


On Saturday he walked to his office in Whitehall to retrieve the paper that had first alerted him to what needed to be done. Robertson had been appointed Chief of the Imperial General Staff the previous December. Asked for his thoughts on the conduct of the war, he had sent a confidential note to the Cabinet in August. It was an alarming paper, especially its conclusion: We need therefore to decide without loss of time what our policy is to be, then place it before the Entente Powers, and ascertain in return what are their aims, and so endeavour to arrive at a clear understanding before we meet our enemies in conference. This was quite the clearest indication the Cabinet had ever received from a military man that a negotiated end to the war needed to be considered.


Lansdowne re-read Robertson’s minute as he sat behind the desk at his office. The desk had followed him through all his political and ministerial appointments. He had purchased it in Ottawa in 1883 on first arriving there as Governor-General. All his most important decisions had been made at this desk. He knew that Robertson was correct. The line that he himself must take in his memorandum for the Cabinet was clear. He walked home to Berkeley Square to adjust his draft.


Now on Monday morning the finished version lay before him. It was still in longhand: he would have his tea and toast and walk to the Cabinet Office, where it would be typed and copied in secret.


A knock on the door. Horton entered. He turned to retrieve the tray he had just placed on a low table outside the room and carried into the study, then laid it quietly by the side of Lord Lansdowne’s desk.


‘Thank you,’ Lansdowne said in a low voice. ‘I will be in Whitehall until one o’clock, Horton, and will lunch alone when I return.’


‘Yes, my lord.’


Horton left the room. Pouring his tea and delicately biting into the toast (his dentures had been giving him trouble) Lansdowne re-read his memorandum. It made clear that the Government must explore the possibility of a negotiated end to the war.


Lansdowne recognised the parts of his note that would create the most anxiety when his colleagues read it. Should he tell Law what he proposed to say before delivering the note to Asquith? He thought not: Law might want him to reconsider. He might worry that a leak could taint the party as pacifist, without backbone, cowardly. Lansdowne thought the exact opposite was true: it would be cowardly not to recognise the situation and search, however indirectly, for an end to the slaughter.


What does the prolongation of the War mean? he had written. We are slowly but surely killing off the best of the male population of these islands…The financial burden which we have already accumulated is almost incalculable… And the conclusion: We ought at any rate not to discourage any movement, no matter where originating, in favour of an interchange of views as to the possibility of a settlement.


That should do it.


What he really wanted to say in the memorandum must remain unsaid, however. The little Welshman had given an interview to an American newspaper six weeks earlier. The ‘knock-out blow’ interview, as it had come to be known (much to Lloyd George’s pleasure), had entirely discounted any possibility of a negotiated end to the war. Britain would fight on to the finish, he proclaimed. Lansdowne recognised the political motivation that lay behind Lloyd George’s intervention. Facing re-election later that year, it was widely believed that President Wilson was searching for a peace overture to garland his reputation not just as The Man Who Kept America Out but now also as The Man Who Brokered The Peace. There was no doubt that the war would only end after the Americans intervened. But given the momentum in that country against intervention, any such American move would be many years away. In the meantime there would be more British and French slaughter. Lansdowne knew that all talk of a ‘knock-out blow’ was hopeless. That could not be said, not even in the semi-privacy of the Cabinet, and certainly not on paper. But he had said enough.


He finished his tea and walked downstairs to the hall. Overcoat, hat, walking stick, scarf and gloves. The manuscript in his breast pocket. A brisk walk from Berkeley Square to Whitehall would take twenty minutes.


At his office he asked the duty typist to prepare the memorandum and make copies for distribution to the Cabinet. It was to be marked ‘Most Secret’, although Lansdowne reflected that ‘Most Secret’ was now the clearest indication that a document was intended for leaking. But the Prime Minister had asked for written representations and, besides, the case was stronger on paper than Lansdowne would have been able to make by speaking it.


The copies were ready within the hour. The office was efficient and thorough: his small staff was really remarkably business-like. The printed memorandum ran to eight pages. He placed the copies in a satchel and asked the clerk to telephone Downing Street and request a brief meeting with the Prime Minister. The PM would see him in ten minutes’ time, on his way to lunch. Lansdowne left the office and walked to the end of Whitehall to gaze at the Palace of Westminster. A weak winter sun was finally breaking through but it held no heat. The city would slip slowly back into darkness within a few brief hours. He retraced his steps, entered Downing Street, and was saluted by the policeman at Number 10. The door opened and Lansdowne entered the building to hand Asquith the memorandum that would destroy his ministry.
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Tuesday 14 November 1916 — Cabinet Room, 10 Downing Street


‘Your car will be here in thirty minutes, Prime Minister. The train leaves Victoria at ten o’clock and you sail from Dover at half past twelve. You will be in Paris by four o’clock. Monsieur Briand will visit you at the embassy at five, then dinner at the Quai at seven. The first stage of the conference will take place over dinner. Your papers are in the box and Colonel Hankey and Mr Bonham Carter will give you further information on the train. Do you need anything else, sir?’


‘Just one moment please, Drummond. If I sign these papers now please have them distributed once I’ve left. There is also a memorandum for the King which must go to the Palace immediately.’


‘Sir.’


‘David, read this. It’s from Lansdowne. His response to my request for ideas. You won’t enjoy it.’


Asquith pushed the memorandum across the table to Lloyd George and returned to the pile of papers before him. Lloyd George watched him work. Asquith was sitting in the central position at the Cabinet table, a position he had occupied for more than eight years. A fire burned in the grate behind him but gave little warmth. A limp light entered the room from the windows over Horse Guards.


Lloyd George was trying to remember the first time he had met Asquith. He found he was unable to fix on the date. It must surely have been in about 1890, but when? He couldn’t be sure. The man had been his chief for almost a decade but they had never been close. Asquith thought that Lloyd George was impatient, both with the pace of the war and also with his own position. Lloyd George had stood aside as Chancellor of the Exchequer eighteen months earlier to become Minister of Munitions and then, last May, when Kitchener had drowned off the Orkneys, he became War Secretary. But Lloyd George felt he was tied down on every side and unable to run the war. He thought Asquith was old, tired, worn-out. But what to do about it?


As Asquith worked his way through the papers, amending items in the margins, signing the bottom of each file, Lloyd George glanced through Lansdowne’s memorandum. He did not expect to enjoy it, knowing that Lansdowne was no supporter of the ‘maximum push’ policy that Lloyd George was now advocating to anyone who would listen. In fact this marked a sharp change in his own view about the war, a reminder of how fickle politics is, how quickly minds could change, and how completely. Lansdowne had always been a fighter. He had fought Lloyd George over the budget of 1909. He had fought him (almost to the death) about reforming the House of Lords. He had fought him, and Asquith, and the whole Liberal Government, over Home Rule for Ireland, siding with Carson and Bonar Law in their outrageous preparations for armed rebellion and civil war in Ulster in 1914. When the war broke out in Europe Lloyd George had at first been a forceful advocate of Britain staying out. Let the foreigners butcher themselves into oblivion. Why should Englishmen, Welsh, Scots and patriotic Irish fight to the death over a hopeless archduke, a collapsing eastern empire, and a non-country like Belgium? No, Britain must stay out. He had almost left the Cabinet over the issue in August 1914.


But now all this was changed. Britain had engaged the enemy and, having engaged, must fight fiercely to the finish. Effort must be redoubled, no expense spared, no challenge unmet. In this Lloyd George enjoyed the full confidence of Bonar Law, the Unionist leader. But Law’s colleague in the Lords, Lansdowne, was equivocating. And as for Asquith: who know where he stood? A war leader who wrote private letters to women friends (one of them the wife of another minister, by all accounts) during Cabinet meetings. Who played bridge and drank freely in the evenings. Who was known at five o’clock on a wintry London afternoon to wrap up and walk to the Athenaeum where he might spend an hour or two reading cheap detective novels in the library. This was a war leader? Or was he beginning to veer towards the policy of withdrawal that Lansdowne was now proposing? It was impossible to read him: in fact it always had been. Asquith was a chairman, not a leader. And with Asquith at the helm England would lose the war. Lloyd George was sure of this now.


In fact Lansdowne’s memorandum was even worse that he had expected. Lloyd George knew from long experience that all Cabinet memoranda were to be read at two levels. The surface level, the words, what they say, and how the message emerges from the text itself. But then one finds the hidden meaning, buried beneath the text, detectable only by those long versed in the art of political whistling.


Lansdowne had written: We are slowly but surely killing off the best of the male population of these islands. This, though true, was not just a lament over a horrifying truth. It was a direct and highly personal plea to Asquith. This war killed your eldest boy Raymond just six weeks ago. What do you owe to him? What do you owe to all the sons of all your friends and colleagues similarly butchered by the pointless war that you are directing?


Lansdowne had also written: The financial burden which we have already accumulated is almost incalculable. Here he was speaking directly to the Chancellor of the Exchequer, Reginald McKenna. Your predecessor presses for a continuation of this slaughter which will not only kill all our children but will also put us in hock to the Americans for a hundred years, Mr Chancellor. How can you support such a policy?


And when Lansdowne had written We ought at any rate not to discourage any movement, no matter where originating, in favour of an interchange of views as to the possibility of a settlement he meant…… Lloyd George paused. He meant: make peace now. Call it a peace with honour. But England will know that it means surrender.


The key question remained: where did Asquith stand in all this? Lloyd George was unsure. Certainly he seemed reluctant to endorse the kind of ‘knock-out blow’ that Lloyd George, with Law’s persistent support, was advocating so strongly. The PM was obviously exhausted. He had carried the burden of the conflict for over two years now. It was an endless war, dreadful loss of life, nothing at all gained. And the Cabinet decided nothing. Even minor decisions required endless meetings, and every major military engagement sanctioned by the Cabinet had led to catastrophe. The Dardanelles had been a disaster but Asquith had been unable to restrain Churchill in his insistence that it would open up a path to Constantinople which would knock Turkey out of the war. Carnage, mayhem, total destruction. Asquith presided at Cabinet; he never led. Lloyd George could feel the urge to lead welling up within him like a hard, physical thing. Asquith must stand aside. And if Asquith shared the sentiments being advocated by Lansdowne in this note he must stand aside immediately. But did he?


Lloyd George tossed the paper onto the Cabinet table. Asquith signed his last document and rang for Drummond, who entered immediately and took them away. He left the room as quietly as he had entered, the table now clear except for the Lansdowne note that lay between them. The Prime Minister spoke.


‘Am I correct?’


‘In believing that I would disagree?’


‘Yes.’


‘Completely. It’s a disgrace. Even by Lansdowne’s low standards, it’s beneath contempt.’


‘No, David, that is unfair. I asked for opinions. I asked for honest opinions. I was – I am – afraid that we all spend so much time together dealing with the daily crises, and we spend so much time hearing from generals whose confidence in their recommendations is matched only by their incompetence in delivery, we can no longer even imagine that there may be a different view. Well, here at least is a different view.’


‘Prime Minister, I understand the point. But this is not a different view. This is just Lansdowne’s own contrarian view. We all knew that he held it even before you asked for written submissions. So we’ve been through another paper exercise, another consultation, and the Cabinet will now waste more precious time considering Lansdowne’s view and all the other views that will be expressed to you. And, as you always do, you will try to find some middle path that adopts the “best” of all these representations and forge them into a compromise policy that reflects the lowest common denominator of the Cabinet’s collective view on this matter of life and death. Of life and death, Prime Minister.’


Asquith stared at him. Said nothing.


The silence lasted a moment.


‘Prime Minister, I must ask: is this your view too? Do you share Lansdowne’s pessimism? His defeatism? Do you think we should be “encouraging” those “movements” that favour discussing the “possibility of a settlement”? Do you?’


Asquith looked away. He paused. Then answered.


‘In my position, I must at least allow it to be considered. It is the role of the king’s first minister to take account of the views of every member of the Cabinet and do what he can to…’


‘It is not his role, Prime Minister.’ Lloyd George banged his hand on the table. ‘It is not his role, not in wartime. In peacetime, perhaps, but even then nothing that we accomplished before the war would have been achieved without you, you Prime Minister, being willing to lead. To express your own view, to inspire your colleagues in new and courageous directions. So now we are at war and your courage has deserted you. More than ever in a war you must be the leader, not the chairman.’


Asquith stiffened. Sat up straight. Reddened.


‘I need no lectures from you or any other minister about courage. I have done everything that I can to carry us through this war. I have tried every initiative. I have dealt with politicians, generals, foreigners, everyone, to try to win this wretched war. I have the blood of all those men on my hands. Those young men…’ He paused. Remembered Raymond, his son. ‘Young men who have lost limbs and lives and minds because this Cabinet, which I lead, has sent them to war. I resent, I deeply resent, your accusation that I lack courage.’


He looked away. There was silence.


Lloyd George spoke.


‘I’m sorry, Prime Minister. I apologise. That is not what I meant to say.’


‘Then what did you mean?’


A further silence.


‘I meant that we cannot go on this way. I am a Secretary of War who cannot, who is not allowed to, run the war. Everything I do and say is refracted through the War Committee, which is too big, too unwieldy, and then back to the full Cabinet for decision. In a war we must act fiercely, energetically, with vigour. We must act now. We cannot run a war by committee, Prime Minister. And we cannot run a war when men like Lansdowne have a voice in the deliberations. You chair the Cabinet more adroitly than any other man possibly could. You lead the Commons better than any parliamentary leader I have ever seen. But to run a war is a frightful thing. It needs energy, dedication, action. And it needs men of vision with the courage to see things through. To be willing to risk failure in order to succeed. To lead.’


Asquith paused. He stared at Lloyd George.


‘Well you are at least consistent in your views. I accept your apology. I know you meant no personal slight. We must discuss this further, we must come to some conclusion. Let’s talk on the train to Kent.’


At this Asquith reached forward and slid the copy of Lansdowne’s paper into his lap.


‘I need to meet Drummond now, and Margot. I will see you in the car outside.’


‘Thank you, Prime Minister.’ Lloyd George rose and walked towards the door. Without a sound, Drummond slid it open before Lloyd George reached for the knob and stood to one side as the War Secretary left the room.


Before Asquith and his party had reached Kent, Lansdowne’s memorandum was already in the hands of Carson and Lord Northcliffe, proprietor of The Times, who hated Asquith. Actually, Northcliffe just hated. Asquith was merely the target of the moment. But word began to spread, quietly, in the corridors, among the backbenchers, and then more virulently among the front benchers, that Lansdowne had prepared his remarks not at Asquith’s invitation but at his insistence. For Carson and Northcliffe, Asquith was now bent on negotiating an end to the war. The trip to Paris was merely one opportunity for the Prime Minister to begin moving in that direction. 




* * *





And so the principal actors in the drama that was about to unfold in the early winter of 1916 have now been identified.


Bonar Law in the Commons resisting an attack by Carson on the ministry of which Law was a leading member.


Law’s colleague Lord Lansdowne urging a radical change of direction in the conduct of the war.


David Lloyd George also urging change but in a direction wholly different from that advocated by Lansdowne.


And at the centre of these various disputes the Prime Minister, Herbert Asquith, haunted by the recent death of his eldest son, trying to manage the competing forces that were now beginning to assail him.


The stage is set for a showdown. It needs only a catalyst to turn these various intrigues and protestations into a true crisis.


The spark to Carson’s flame was provided by a man who would later become known as Lord Beaverbrook, the greatest newspaperman of his age. But in 1916 Beaverbrook was merely a backbench MP and a meddler. Later he wrote an account of these events, drawing on his own diary entries or (his critics charged) on newly-invented recollections that helped to bend the historical record in his own preferred direction. His role in the drama began on the day that Asquith left for the conference in Paris.
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